A report from the Deloitte Center for Government Insights

Deloitte. Insights



The future of government contact centers

Seven steps to quantum leap improvement

About the authors

John O'Leary | jpoleary@deloitte.com

John O'Leary is a senior manager with Deloitte Services LP and is the state and local government research leader for the Deloitte Center for Government Insights. Prior to joining Deloitte, he served as the vice president of communications and executive reporting at State Street Bank. O'Leary previously served in multiple senior leadership roles for the Commonwealth of Massachusetts and was a distinguished research fellow at the Kennedy School of Government at Harvard University. He is the coauthor of the 2009 *Washington Post* bestseller, *If We Can Put a Man on the Moon: Getting Big Things Done in Government* (Harvard Business Press, 2009).

Marc Mancher | jmancher@deloitte.com

Marc Mancher is a principal at Deloitte Consulting, where he founded and continues to lead the federal, state, local, and higher education Contact Center business worth US\$400M. Mancher has spent the last 25 years improving customer service through the use of artificial intelligence, advanced technologies, and modern operational learnings. He served 30 active/reserve years in the US Navy, retiring as a CAPT in 2018, with duty on the ground in Afghanistan in 2009 and 2010 as a member of Operation Enduring Freedom.

William D. Eggers | weggers@deloitte.com

William D. Eggers is the executive director of Deloitte Services LP's Center for Government Insights where he is responsible for the firm's public sector thought leadership. His latest book is *Delivering on Digital: The Innovators and Technologies That Are Transforming Government* (Deloitte Insights, 2016). His eight other books include *The Solution Revolution: How Government, Business, and Social Enterprises are Teaming up to Solve Society's Biggest Problems* (Harvard Business Review Press, 2013). The book, which The *Wall Street Journal* calls "pulsating with new ideas about civic and business and philanthropic engagement," was named on ten best-books-of-the-year lists. His other books include *The Washington Post* bestseller, *If We Can Put a Man on the Moon: Getting Big Things Done in Government* (Harvard Business Press, 2009), *Governing by Network* (Brookings, 2004), and *The Public Innovator's Playbook* (Deloitte Research, 2009). He coined the term Government 2.0 in a book by the same name. His commentary has appeared in dozens of major media outlets including the *New York Times, Wall Street Journal*, and the *Washington Post*.

Shelly Metschan | smetschan@deloitte.com

Shelly Metschan is a managing director in Deloitte's Government and Public Services practice, bringing more than 20 years of experience as a technology transformation leader, and more than 15 years focused on the state, local, and higher education industries. Her work includes the implementation of large statewide applications, business process reengineering efforts, contact center implementations, and human-centered design.

Contents

From frustrated hang-ups to engaging interactions			
The seven shifts that are redefining the future of contact centers	4		
Shift #1: An experience hub, not a cost center	4		
Shift #2: From call center to contact center	4		
Shift #3: Automated, automatic, self-service	5		
Shift #4: Tech-supported human interactions	6		
Shift #5: Integrated information and workflow	7		
Shift #6: An enhanced employee experience	7		
Shift #7: Empathetic tech	11		
Taking the next step toward building the contact centers of tomorrow	13		
Endnotes	16		

From frustrated hang-ups to engaging interactions



FTER JANE LOST her job due to the pandemic, she reached out to several government agencies about benefits. She visited an agency website, but as a new applicant, had some questions she needed clarified before she could apply online. When she called the agency, however, she found herself on hold for 90 minutes or more. More than once, she gave up in frustration. When Jane finally *did* reach an agent, she was understandably upset.

On the other end of the line was an employee who was *equally* upset—working from home during the pandemic, serving an avalanche of incoming calls, dealing with frustrated callers, and falling behind despite her best efforts.

The pandemic has provided a painful wakeup call for government contact centers, as high volumes exposed the limitations of legacy systems. Phone lines were jammed and customers often faced lengthy delays. If any silver lining has emerged from the chaos, it's that modernizing government contact centers has finally become a priority. And dramatic improvement *is* possible. A number of big shifts are already starting to occur, but for government, perhaps the most important is a change in mindset. The focus used to be on building a better contact center through incremental improvements, with holding down costs as a top priority. That won't cut it anymore. Today, success might require reimagining the *entire customer experience*. It's about solving peoples' problems as quickly and painlessly as possible. Contact centers play a huge role in customer satisfaction—or dissatisfaction—with an agency.

The contact center of the future

Government contact centers can and should aim to create the best possible outcomes for their customers, agents, and the agency itself. This will require a deep understanding of user needs and making appropriate use of digital technologies (figure 1).

FIGURE 1

Contact center of the future

A better customer experience through a tech-supported workforce



Source: Deloitte analysis.

The contact center of the future entails three components:

• A **customer experience hub** that delivers great service through multiple channels. As part of this, governments will have to think of ways to apply a human-centered design (HCD) to their contact center operations, putting the customer at the forefront. The technology that powers interactions would have to be empathetic, ensuring that the technology is helpful rather than infuriating. The goal is to make customers' lives easier, with options including omnichannel touchpoints and automated "no-touch" processes.

- A smart, technology-powered **agent cockpit** wherein integrated workflows bring together information from all touchpoints. Agents would have smart routing options to process calls better.
- A modern, secure **technology foundation** that supports emerging tools. The cornerstone of this foundation would be a secure, cloudbased platform.

The seven shifts that are redefining the future of contact centers

THE BASIC BUILDING blocks of a contact center—including people, process flows, and technology—should be familiar. But there are seven significant shifts making the future contact center very different than what is happening in government contact centers today:

- Shift #1: An experience hub, not a cost center
- Shift #2: From call center to contact center
- Shift #3: Automated, automatic, self-service
- Shift #4: Tech-supported human interactions
- Shift #5: Integrated information and workflow
- Shift #6: An enhanced employee experience
- Shift #7: Empathetic tech

Shift #1: An experience hub, not a cost center

It's not about getting people off the phone fast or diverting them to tech; it's about solving their problems and making them happy. Do it right, and you can see satisfaction go up and costs go down.

For too long, contact centers have been seen as cost centers, and the biggest expense factor has been labor. As a result, management has generally viewed technology as a way to reduce the time spent talking with customers. But if the purpose of a contact center is to create a great customer experience, in some cases it might make sense to spend extensive time talking with a customer to resolve a difficult issue. On the other hand, a great customer experience may not involve any human interaction, as when you pay a vehicle toll at 60 mph thanks to a transponder on your windshield.

Creating a great experience doesn't need to be about hiring more people but redesigning the process and technology to create an entirely *different* experience. Depending on the situation, a great customer experience could be fully automated, on an online self-service tool, or in the form of an extended conversation with a knowledgeable representative.

In the past, contact center managers have too often seen their role as pushing employees to get customers off the phone as quickly as possible. This may seem like it will reduce costs, but does it? After all, unhappy customers are likely to keep calling back until their problem is solved. Ironically, great service can actually end up being less expensive, since most issues get resolved with a *single interaction*, reducing the chance of costly errors.

Shift #2: From call center to contact center

This means providing omnichannel service (phone, text, email, website, mobile) and twoway communication, including proactive reminders.

Customers want it all. They desire service for any need at any time, by phone, email, text, social media, paper mail, or at physical "walk-in" locations. Most government agencies offer service through multiple channels, but too often, government has failed to integrate these service experiences, meaning that information shared through one channel isn't shared with other channels. Moreover, government hasn't taken full advantage of tools to proactively guide customers to the correct action and the best channel. Imagine, if upon a key life event (your driver's license expiring, losing a job, the approach of your 65th birthday), you received an email, complete with prefilled forms, from relevant agencies. Not only would it avoid missed deadlines, but it would also likely move routine transactions to digital platforms-which is where they belong.

For such reasons, contact center leaders now are moving toward a principle called "right-channeling" ushering customers to the most efficient channel for their needs, helping them feel recognized and valued without losing sight of efficiency.¹

Some customers usually just want a quick transaction. These customers should be guided toward self-service features on the web. But sometimes, customers are anxious about online transactions, and want a sympathetic listener to help address their problems. And sometimes, they have complex problems that require specialized knowledge to solve.

Modern digital contact center infrastructure can enable these kinds of "omnichannel" interactions, where the citizen can transition seamlessly from a chatbot to voice to text. This is enabled on the back end by a platform that integrates all relevant information and shares it with the agent through an integrated information cockpit.

Shift #3: Automated, automatic, self-service

Done right, tech-based service can be great. The solution to long lines at toll booths wasn't to hire more toll collectors—it was to put a transponder on the windshield that allows drivers to pay their toll while cruising at 60 mph. Seamless, no-touch, and low-touch solutions can deliver the best service at low cost.

Technology can solve simple problems quickly with minimal staff intervention.

Moreover, a *well-designed* self-service can create a very satisfying customer experience, allowing customers to complete tasks quickly and without human intervention. Note the emphasis on "well-designed." Because tech-based self-service tools can be *extremely* frustrating if the user can't navigate them easily. By the third time, when they've been sent back to the main menu, most people start screaming "representative!" or pushing the pound key to escape.

The best contact centers will likely invest in ways to dramatically increase the share of low-touch and no-touch solutions. The key is that these must be designed to meet the needs of customers—not merely frustrate them on the way to reaching a live person. Using HCD principles to create such digital experiences is one way to go about it (see sidebar, "HCD helps GSA assist fraud victims" to know how using HCD principles helped make reporting scams to the website easier for victims).

Behavioral insights or "nudge" thinking tells us that if you want people to use digital self-service, you need to make it easy for them to do so. This

HCD HELPS GSA ASSIST FRAUD VICTIMS

The General Services Administration's Technology Transformation Services (TTS) has used HCD to improve the customer experience for those reporting scams to the USA.gov website.

Americans lose more than US\$1 billion annually to various scams. The TTS team was charged with improving the USA.gov website to make it easier for these victims to report their situations and obtain assistance. Using HCD principles, the team invited 32 people who had previously contacted USA.gov about scams to a workshop to learn about their experiences.

Based on insights from actual users, TTS created an easy-to-use chatbot to provide personalized experiences. Within a month after launch, the chatbot had handled more than 4,000 inquiries; seventy-eight percent of users had asked a question and received a satisfactory answer. Handling routine inquiries in this way allows contact center staff members to devote more time to more challenging issues.² The lesson? Getting the input of actual users can help make self-service simple.

usually means investing in technology that makes it easy for customers to interact digitally. This includes prefilled forms, clear instructions on web pages, and the option to use mobile devices.

Not all tech solutions are created equal. Automated menus with confusing choices can be off-putting and frustrating. And customers who don't speak a region's primary language often have been illserved by automation.

Today, however, multilingual chatbots can overcome language barriers. The U.S. Citizenship and Immigration Services' AI chatbot Emma, for instance, offers services in both English and Spanish.³ Dubai Electricity & Water Authority chatbot RAMMAS can converse in both English and Arabic.⁴ More recently, as the pandemic struck, San Jose quickly trained its English-only bot for Spanish and Vietnamese as well. Officials made a first pass by using free services to translate questions and answers into these languages, then had bilingual staff members review the results for accuracy. In the next phase, they'll train the chatbot to provide translations in real time as needed through machine learning.⁵ As technology evolves, the service levels of digital solutions can keep getting better and better.

Government agencies are also working on bridging the gap in accessibility for those with disabilities. In April 2021, Virginia became the first state in the United States to provide real-time American Sign Language (ASL) support for COVID-19 and vaccine information to the deaf and those that are hard of hearing. Virginia's Vaccine Call Center employs a staff of deaf individuals fluent in ASL and also offers services in English and Spanish.⁶

The use of artificial intelligence (AI), including natural language processing, is transforming techbased service, making it possible to deliver great service at low costs. The contact center of the future is expected to use technology as a service tool.

Shift #4: Tech-supported human interactions

In those exceptional cases where customers need to interact with a real human, the representative should have all the tools they need to do their job at their fingertips. Like pilots in a cockpit, they should be getting critical information from a variety of sources, and have the support they need to deliver a solution. Too often, once a customer jumps through the hoops needed to reach a live person, they still can't get the help they need. That's not the employee's fault, as they may have little more than a three-ring binder to guide them through difficult cases.

Tech-supported interactions can dramatically increase success rates. In the contact center of the future, instead of feeling isolated, the employee is supported with critical information in an "employee cockpit."

"Empathetic tech" can combine the efficiency of technology with the empathy of a live person to produce a great customer experience. But with each customer being unique, how can you design a system to serve thousands or even millions of unique users? One way is to use personas fictitious individuals that represent a portion of a population (see sidebar, "Using personas as an HCD tool").

Shift #5: Integrated information and workflow

Too often, customers are asked for the same information multiple times. In the contact center of the future, information is kept in one place and those who need it can access it when needed.

Regardless of input type (text, email, phone call) *integrated service workflows* ensure that all information is captured in the same place, so no customer has to "tell their story" three times to three different people. This omnichannel approach not only allows information to come in through different channels, but also ensures that all this information is integrated on the back end and is available to customer service reps.

Whether no-touch, low-touch, or high-touch, workflows should deliver a positive result for customers requires the appropriate technology as

well as strategies to ensure the proper "matchmaking" of task to resolution, connecting each customer with a representative with the right skills for the problem. A contact center may handle a variety of call types; some customers may need a Mandarin speaker, others may require specialized knowledge, and still others may just need a little hand-holding. This "smart routing" is enabled by a set of integrated workflows, meaning information from a text or email from a customer is visible to the person answering the phone and available to all, so if you have filled out a form online and then sent a text, the representative will have that information provided in their "cockpit." Integrating the multiple types of tech may be the most challenging aspect of building the contact center of the future. It all rests on a secure, cloud-based tech foundation that meets stringent security standards, such as FEDRAMP, to ensure that private information is kept private.

Shift #6: An enhanced employee experience

Miserable employees can't provide great service. The experience of employees in the contact center of the future is expected to be dramatically different than what is typically experienced today, with more training, greater flexibility, and a more satisfying work environment.

Frontline employees can have a *huge* impact on customer satisfaction. Yet the contact center experience can be stressful for employees. Workers often receive inadequate training and face high workloads punctuated by difficult interactions with angry customers. It's no surprise that attrition in these jobs tends to be high.⁷

A great *employee* experience is more likely to provide a great *customer* experience. Disengaged employees frequently use negative language with customers, saying "I can't do that," rather than positive language

USING PERSONAS AS AN HCD TOOL

HCD begins with understanding the unique aspects of your customers—their preferences, capabilities, and limitations. One way to do this is by using "personas." In the case of a contact center for a government health department, for example, the following personas could begin to define the center's range of necessary capabilities, in terms of technology as well as training for representatives.

	19		
	0	101/	шси
	Basic computer skills		
	Need for specialty care		
	Ability to self-serve		
	Independence		
	Health literacy	He	
		Basic computer skills Need for specialty care Ability to self-serve Independence Health literacy	LOW Basic computer skills Need for specialty care Ability to self-serve Independence Health literacy

OLIVIA, THE OCTOGENARIAN

Boca Raton, Florida | While only 38% of Medicare enrollees are aged 85 years and older, more than 44% of spending per capita is done by this age group.*

NEEDS

- Clear, concise information since English is second language (primary: Mandarin)
- Easily accessible services
- Access to medical history in multiple formats (hard copy, electronic, accessible by medical professionals, etc.)

KEY IDENTIFIERS

- Prefers to speak with a live person who speaks Mandarin
- May be affected by neurological deterioration
- May have harder time hearing, may need assistance on their end from family/friends/health care workers
- Will often need multiple services
- Not as likely to go on a computer and self-serve

Source: *MEDPAC: A Data Book: Health care spending and the Medicare program, June 2017.



FELICITY, THE FAMILY MEMBER

Wichita, Kansas | Relatives, friends, and attorneys alike can act as a Medicare Original beneficiary's authorized representative to obtain information and make Medicare-related decisions (e.g., enrollment, appeals) on behalf of the beneficiary. More than 65 million people—29% of the US population—provide care to a family member or friend each year.*

NEEDS

- Compassion and understanding from CMS
- Easy access to all services available for their family member
- Straightforward, informative documents to help them navigate Medicare Original services
- Onetime authorization so they can handle care without needing to authenticate every time they are to act on their family member's behalf

KEY IDENTIFIERS

- Typically has no experience with CMS
- Busy with other life events unrelated to Medicare Original
- · Tends to be overwhelmed with options and responsibilities
- Family member may have significant neurocognitive or medical issues that requires additional care and services
- May not live in the same location as family member

Source: *Caregiver action network. Caregiver statistics: Statistics on family caregivers and family caregiving, 2004.



FELIX, THE FLUCTUATOR

Cedar Key, Florida | Fluctuators experience wavering health care coverage due to fluctuating income, employment, or health conditions (e.g., diabetes). They may not qualify for Medicare/ Medicaid coverage, and may have to depend on other options. In 2019, there were 16 million temporary or contractor employees in the United States.*

NEEDS

- Straightforward guidance on how to remain covered despite irregularities in income, employment, and/or health conditions
- Informative and direct answers on basic health care decisions and processes
- Quick and easily accessible omnichannel health care resources

KEY IDENTIFIERS

- Fluctuating and irregular income, typically due to seasonal employment
- Employer does not provide health insurance
- Confused about eligibility and when to enroll
- Has a chronic condition but may not qualify for CMS coverage
- Likely to experience inconsistent health care coverage

Source: *Statista, Annual temporary and contract staffing employment in the United States from 2000 to 2020, Temporary and contract staffing employment in the U.S. 2000-2020, Statista Research Department, December 10, 2021.

such as "Let me look into that." Even worse, they may provide customers with *incorrect* information just to rush them off the phone.

Government contact centers may need to *rebuild the employee experience*, from onboarding through the entire career path.

In the past, contact center jobs could be dead-end jobs. In the future, tech will likely be handling a greater fraction of tasks, meaning the remaining issues will be more complex—in turn, requiring more skilled representatives. While there'd be generalists to fix routine problems, there would also be a group of employees who can develop niche specialties and serve as sophisticated problem-solvers.

As for the generalists, the number of programs they cover could increase. It is common today to have distinct groups of agents working in silos, with groups such as Child Support, Adult Protective Services, and Child Care Services each fully staffing their own contact center. This can be inefficient. In the future, thanks to supportive cockpits and sophisticated scripting assistance, there could be a shared pool of generalized agents covering a broader scope of programs, with specialists to access as needed.

Furthermore, employees increasingly value flexibility in their schedules. Government contact centers too often use blanket shift schedules and manual vacation spreadsheets. Advanced workforce systems can *forecast* workloads, schedule agent assignments, and track adherence to assigned schedules. Such systems can be designed to accommodate greater employee flexibility.

Employees also value the ability to work *remotely*, from home or wherever else they choose. The pandemic prompted a rapid shift to remote work, which can have the added benefit of reducing facility costs. According to the Deloitte 2021 Global Contact Centre Survey, eight percent of companies plan to close their physical customer service centers entirely.⁸ To be effective, managers need to manage differently in the remote environment and will likely need tools to keep employees engaged and connected.

Shift #7: Empathetic tech

Empathetic tech combines the efficiency of digital with the warmth of human understanding. Thanks to advances to AI and better design, empathetic tech can sense human emotions, and either provide enhanced tech solutions or shift customers to a live representative.

The choice used to be between cold, impersonal tech and the warm but costly service by a live agent. Advances in "empathetic" tech have broken that tradeoff. In effect, smart machines are beginning to successfully navigate quintessentially human territory, sensing emotion cues and addressing what really matters to customers.⁹

New AI technology can capture critical "biosignatures"—facial expressions, voice patterns, and more—to interpret human emotions and generate empathetic responses. In a contact center setting, AI can help detect an unsettled emotional state and connect that person to an actual human being before their frustration escalates.

At Dubai's Roads and Transport Authority (RTA), for instance, AI-enabled cameras analyze the facial expression of customers before and after processing their transactions, providing instant feedback on customer happiness. The system sends text and email follow-up notifications to those who appear dissatisfied, allowing the agency to take steps to improve their service.¹⁰ A future update will send callers a "happiness" survey via text.¹¹ AI-based systems use machine learning to better understand the needs of customers, continually learning from past events. In time, these systems will be able to predict, with increasing accuracy, why a particular customer is contacting the agency, and route them to the appropriate service channel, whether it's a human, a chatbot, or a self-service platform.

Consider, for instance, the chatbot platform jointly created by Finland's Immigration Service, Tax Administration, and Patent and Registration Office, which can field questions related to immigration, taxation, and company formation. Each agency has its own independent chatbot, but they're linked to one another through an intelligent layer in the background. When a bot can't answer a question, it can analyze user keywords, predict the appropriate agency to help, and then redirect the customer to its chatbot.¹²

Until recently, the only way government leaders could improve their contact center operations was by adding additional components onto their existing structure—perhaps adding a chatbot to a website or an IVR system to the telephony. Today, the notion of "contact center as a service" allows government to rent a suite of services—with the advantage of only paying for what you use.

Taking the next step toward building the contact centers of tomorrow

ANY PUBLIC LEADERS who oversee contact centers see many opportunities for improvement, but aren't clear on the best way to move ahead. Their concerns often fall into four categories:

- How can we afford this?
- Do we have the skills to make this happen?
- What underlying technology infrastructure do I need?
- How can we pull together all the technologies?

How can we afford this?

One silver lining of the pandemic is *much* greater awareness of the need to enhance governments' ability to provide customer services. Federal COVID-19 funding and surplus state revenues in many states can help agencies upgrade these capacities.

Note that, just as the cloud allows you to pay only for the technology you use, a "pay by the minute" approach to call center services can limit upfront costs and allow charges to be proportional to usage, eliminating the risk of paying for capacity needed only during peak demands.

Do we have the skills to make this happen?

Public agencies often lack the specialized expertise needed to rebuild their contact centers. From telephony to AI, from cybersecurity to data integration, few public agencies have the depth and breadth of knowledge to go it alone.

A good starting point would be understanding the contact center experience from both a front-end customer perspective and a back-end agent perspective. This can serve as a guidance to incorporate necessary functionalities that meet the user need and hit mission objectives. A deep understanding of what can be fulfilled in-house visà-vis what can be brought in from outside can help enable the development of solutions that are grounded in user needs as well as provide value.

What underlying technology infrastructure do I need?

The government contact center of the future needs a strong, secure, and adaptable platform. The pandemic has shown that infrastructure designed strictly for on-premises work isn't easily shifted to distributed work models, particularly for workers lacking reliable high-speed internet. The pandemic's challenges have prompted many contact center leaders to double down on digital transformation.

The cloud is the most likely platform for the contact center of the future. Agencies that had invested in cloud technology reaped benefits during the pandemic. In California, for instance, 90% of some 200,000 state employees were able to switch to telework smoothly due to previous cloudbased projects.¹³ While cloud computing often has been seen simply as a way to cut costs, its real value for contact centers lies in its resilience, rapid scaling, and ability to deliver a seamless experience.¹⁴ And thanks to standardized security certifications such as FEDRAMP, cloud environments are trusted by some of the most security-conscious government agencies to ensure private information is kept private.

How can we pull together all the technologies?

The biggest challenge in creating the contact center of the future could be the integration of its technology, including interactive voice response (IVR) and AI. There's a large, complex ecosystem of providers (figure 2), but the *real* trick is getting all the right pieces to work together in harmony. In home and commercial construction, a general contractor's primary job is assembling and managing multiple subcontractors with different skills, such as plumbers, electricians, and carpenters. In the same way, using a single vendor to help design and manage a contact center upgrade can reduce the risks involved in trying to integrate a multitude of technologies in-house. It can also eliminate finger-pointing among various providers, placing accountability with a single entity.

Building the contact center of the future is a big task, but it is achievable. When contact centers *truly* go digital, they will use technologies such as AI and cloud computing to elevate the human experience and radically transform their own operations. The end result is happier customers, more satisfied employees, and "mission accomplished" for government agencies.

FIGURE 2

Government needs to get different elements of its contact center ecosystem to work in harmony



Source: Deloitte analysis.

Endnotes

- 1. Deloitte Digital, From cost center to experience hub: Tapping the potential of customer service to help drive business growth, June 2021.
- 2. General Services Administration, "USA.gov uses human-centered design to roll out AI chatbot," resources.data. gov, June 7, 2019.
- 3. U.S. Citizenship and Immigration Services, "Meet Emma, our virtual assistant," April 13, 2018.
- 4. Nicky Lung, "Dubai Electricity & Water Authority 1st government organisation in Dubai to launch Rammas," OpenGov Asia, March 13, 2018.
- 5. Jule Pattison-Gordon, "New Orleans launches its Al-powered, textable 311 chatbot," *Government Technology*, June 25, 2021.
- 6. Melissa Gordon, "Virginia Department of Health announces ASL capabilities for Vaccine Call Center," Virginia Department of Health, April 6, 2021; Andrew Warner, "Virginia launches ASL support for COVID-19 call center," *Language Magazine*, April 28, 2021.
- 7. ContactBabel, Al in the contact centre: Replacing or augmenting agents?, accessed December 10, 2021.
- 8. Deloitte Digital, From cost center to experience hub.
- 9. Kris Pettersen, "Al's next act: Empathetic tech," *Deloitte CIO Journal* on the *Wall Street Journal*, September 11, 2020.
- 10. Özgür Töre, "Dubai uses artificial intelligence to measure customer's happiness," ftnNEWS, March 13, 2019.
- 11. Jane Wiseman and Chetan Choudhury, *Customer-centered government: Innovation and ideas for more responsive public services*, Institute for Excellence in Government, March 2020, p. 18.
- 12. European Commission, Architecture for public service chatbots, September 2019, pp. 21–23.
- 13. Adam Stone, "2020 puts cloud computing in government to the test," *Government Technology*, September 1, 2020.
- 14. Joe Mariani et al., *Cloud as innovation driver: The foundation for employing emerging technologies in government*, Deloitte Insights, June 24, 2019.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank **Shruthi K** from the Deloitte Center for Government Insights for being the lead researcher for the study.

The authors would also like to thank **Heather Covell**, **Michelle Torski**, **Ralph Rosati**, **Emily Carr**, **Derek Fitzgerald**, **Victoria Long**, and **Chinyere Ojini** for their valuable feedback and insights on the draft.

Contact us

Our insights can help you take advantage of change. If you're looking for fresh ideas to address your challenges, we should talk.

Industry leadership

Marc Mancher

Principal | Deloitte Consulting LLP +1 860 488 5071 | jmancher@deloitte.com

Marc Mancher is a principal at Deloitte Consulting, where he founded and continues to lead the federal, state, local, and higher education Contact Center business worth US\$400M. Mancher has spent the last 25 years improving customer service through the use of artificial intelligence, advanced technologies, and modern operational learnings.

The Deloitte Center for Government Insights

William D. Eggers

Executive director | Deloitte Center for Government Insights | Deloitte Services LP +1 571 882 6585 | weggers@deloitte.com

William D. Eggers is the executive director of Deloitte Services LP's Center for Government Insights where he is responsible for the firm's public sector thought leadership. His latest book is *Delivering on Digital: The Innovators and Technologies That Are Transforming Government* (Deloitte Insights, 2016).

About the Deloitte Center for Government Insights

The Deloitte Center for Government Insights shares inspiring stories of government innovation, looking at what's behind the adoption of new technologies and management practices. We produce cuttingedge research that guides public officials without burying them in jargon and minutiae, crystalizing essential insights in an easy-to-absorb format. Through research, forums, and immersive workshops, our goal is to provide public officials, policy professionals, and members of the media with fresh insights that advance an understanding of what is possible in government transformation.

In the face of the current crisis, government leaders have had to reevaluate how they connect with their stakeholders, customers, and the people they serve. They are faced with the critical issues of how government digital contact center employees provide quality customer experiences, where contact center employees work, and how digital channels can be used to support the increase in call center volume. Government and public sector leaders must make swift, insight-informed decisions to support their digital contact center employees while helping people connect to the critical services and benefits they need. To learn more, visit Deloitte.com.



Sign up for Deloitte Insights updates at www.deloitte.com/insights.

Follow @DeloitteInsight

Deloitte Insights contributors

Editorial: Abrar Khan, Aparna Prusty, Arpan Kumar Saha, and Nairita Gangopadhyay **Creative:** Sonya Vasilieff, Rishwa Amarnath, and Steffanie Lorig **Audience development:** Maria Martin Cirujano, Hannah Rapp, and Nikita Garia **Cover artwork:** Sonya Vasilieff

About Deloitte Insights

Deloitte Insights publishes original articles, reports and periodicals that provide insights for businesses, the public sector and NGOs. Our goal is to draw upon research and experience from throughout our professional services organization, and that of coauthors in academia and business, to advance the conversation on a broad spectrum of topics of interest to executives and government leaders.

Deloitte Insights is an imprint of Deloitte Development LLC.

About this publication

This publication contains general information only, and none of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited, its member firms, or its and their affiliates are, by means of this publication, rendering accounting, business, financial, investment, legal, tax, or other professional advice or services. This publication is not a substitute for such professional advice or services, nor should it be used as a basis for any decision or action that may affect your finances or your business. Before making any decision or taking any action that may affect your finances, you should consult a qualified professional adviser.

None of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited, its member firms, or its and their respective affiliates shall be responsible for any loss whatsoever sustained by any person who relies on this publication.

About Deloitte

Deloitte refers to one or more of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited, a UK private company limited by guarantee ("DTTL"), its network of member firms, and their related entities. DTTL and each of its member firms are legally separate and independent entities. DTTL (also referred to as "Deloitte Global") does not provide services to clients. In the United States, Deloitte refers to one or more of the US member firms of DTTL, their related entities that operate using the "Deloitte" name in the United States and their respective affiliates. Certain services may not be available to attest clients under the rules and regulations of public accounting. Please see www.deloitte.com/about to learn more about our global network of member firms.

Copyright © 2022 Deloitte Development LLC. All rights reserved. Member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited